NELS | Network for End of Life Studies |CE | Interdisciplinary Capacity Enchancement

Report of

Symptoms and Outcomes Measurement for

End of Life Care in Nova Scotia, Canada

For Workshop on February 29, 2012

Sponsored by the Network for End of Life Studies with facilitation services provided by Research Power Inc

This work was supported by funding to the Network for End of Life Studies (NELS) from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research through a strategic initiative grant for "Interdisciplinary Capacity Enhancement (ICE) Reducing Health Disparities and Promoting Equity for Vulnerable Populations"

This report is the property of the Network for End of Life Studies (NELS). It is available on the NELS website (<u>www.nels.dal.ca</u>) without cost for review and reference by operational, education and research agencies and personnel. No part of this report is to be reproduced or adapted without the permission of Dr Grace Johnston, Professor, School of Health Administration, Dalhousie University and Epidemiologist, Cancer Care Nova Scotia, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	iii
Introduction	1
Definition and Description of End of Life Care	2
Purposes of the Symptom and Outcomes Workshop	3
Limitations and Assumptions	4
Workshop Context	5
Workshop Process	6
Symptom and Outcome Measurement	7
Edmonton Symptoms Assessment Scale (ESAS)	7
Patient Outcome Scale (POS)	9
Abbey Pain Scale	11
InterRAI Home Care (RAI-HC)	13
Emergency Health Services (EHS) Extended Care Paramedic (ECP)	15
Primary Care	17
Next Steps	19
Conclusion	20
References	21
Appendix A - Agenda	23
Appendix B – List of Participants	24
Appendix C – Outcomes Instruments from Primary Care from Literature Review by Elaine Loney	25
Appendix D – Practice Support Program Algorithm	36

Network for End of Life Studies (NELS) Interdisciplinary Capacity Enhancement (ICE)

i

Appendix E – Planning for Symptom and Outcome Measurement in the Provision of Palliative and E Life Care in Nova Scotia (abridged)	nd of. 37
Appendix F- Edmonton Symptom Assessment System (ESAS), Canadian Problem Checklist, and Dist Thermometer for Cancer Patients	ress 40
Appendix G – Patient (or Palliative) Outcome Scale	45
Appendix H – Abbey Pain Scale	48
Appendix I – InterRAI Home Care (HC) Assessment in SEAscape	50
Appendix J – Extended Care Paramedics (ECP)	52
Appendix K – Primary Palliative Care	56

Executive Summary

Background

The Network for End of Life Studies (NELS) is a team of researchers in Nova Scotia, Canada who are working to enhance interdisciplinary research capacity through collaborations aimed at improving end of life care. NELS received funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) through a multi-year (2006-2013) Interdisciplinary Capacity Enhancement (ICE) grant to help build research capacity through a systematic focus on vulnerable populations. The goal of this ICE grant was to improve care for persons at end of life by enhancing interdisciplinary research capacity.

This report is part of a series of reports produced by NELS ICE. It is focused on the need for province-wide symptom and outcome measurement to facilitate improvement in care provision, greater access to care and the assessment of palliative support for persons at end of life. The report synthesizes the findings from a workshop that was held on February 29, 2012 to gain a better understanding and discussion of some of the symptoms and outcome measures that are being used in Nova Scotia.

Workshop Objectives:

- Demonstrate the need for symptom and outcome measurements
- Review the emerging diversity of measures
- Identify strengths, weaknesses and implementation challenges associated with symptom and outcome measurement
- Enable collaboration and leadership in end of life care symptom and outcome measures

To plan and assess care at end of life, symptom assessment can be more critical than disease classification or location of care. The current symptom and outcome measures being used in Nova Scotia have largely been developed by disease-based programs or individual health services. Person focused measurements that track across health conditions and places of care are lacking.

Symptom and Outcome Measurement

Instruments used in Nova Scotia to measure symptoms and outcomes at end of life include:

- Edmonton Symptoms Assessment Scale (ESAS);
- Patient Outcome Scale (POS);
- Abbey Pain Scale; and
- InterRAI (Home Care Resident Assessment Instrument).

A brief description of each instrument follows. Their advantages and disadvantages for end of life care across chronic diseases and locations of care were discussed at the workshop.

ESAS

The Edmonton Symptom and Assessment Scale (ESAS) was developed in 1991 to quantitatively measure symptom intensity with minimal patient burden for persons with advanced stages of cancer. It has been validated and adapted for use for persons with other chronic conditions.

Advantages	Disadvantages
 Designed for repeated comparative measurement; comparative data available Minimal patient burden Quantitative Tested in a variety of patient populations; large body of literature using the tool Multiple purposes (clinical, administrative and research); used in multiple venues; flexible administration 	 Reliability of self-assessment measures Could be confusion re: self- assessment; may require assistance from trained staff; literacy may be an issue; cannot be used with those with cognitive impairment Multiple versions in use Historic focus on cancer only Lack of standardization in use

POS

The Patient Outcome Scale (POS) was developed by a Palliative Care Core Audit Project Committee in the UK to measure patients' physical symptoms as well as their psychological, emotional and spiritual needs, and provide information and support at the end of life.

Advantages	Disadvantages
 Outcome measure, benchmarking Validated Multiple purposes (clinical care, audit, research, training) Available in 12 languages Staff and patient versions (and care giver) Helps to address practical patient issues and foster interdisciplinary team discussion Has more domains than ESAS Flexible and can be customized for symptoms and diseases 	 Reliability of self-assessment Format may not fit with model of care Literacy issues for some Lack of functional measures Not all questions appropriate at all points in time and for all sectors Four point scale inconsistent with traditional 10 point pain assessment

Abbey Pain Scale

The Abbey Pain Scale was developed in Australia and uses non-verbal observable care (e.g., facial expressions, vocalization, physiological, behaviours, body language and physical conditions) to assess and score pain in residents with end-stage dementia.

 Can be used with persons who have dementia or who cannot verbalize Quick Developed using a variety of care providers 	Advantages	Disadvantages
	 Can be used with persons who have dementia or who cannot verbalize Quick Developed using a variety of care providers 	 Based on care provider observation and so there may be variability in assessment

InterRAI Home Care (HC)

InterRAI HC was developed to create a common language for assessing the health status and care needs of frail elderly and disabled individuals living in the community. RAI-HC is one of many assessment tools developed by InterRAI which is a network of researchers in over 30 countries committed to improving health care for persons who are elderly, frail, or disabled.

Advantages	Disadvantages
 Standardized Comparable with other provinces Validated in many countries and settings Linked to outcomes Pain and Palliative CAPs (Client Assessment Protocols) 	 Requires technology Training of staff required Relies on assessment by trained personal to ensure accuracy of information gathered

Symptom and outcome measures need to be considered for a wide range of community based services, two of which are emergency health services and primary care.

Care in the Emergency Health Services and Primary Care Settings: In addition to the presentation and discussion of the four measures (ESAS, POS, Abbey Pain Scale and InterRAI HC), workshop participants also learned about end of life care and symptom measurement within Emergency Health Services (EHS) and Primary Care settings.

The EHS Extended Care Paramedic (ECP) Program is an initiative funded by the provincial government to help bring the emergency services to nursing home residents to reduce the need for transfers to Emergency Departments. ECPs receive additional training to broaden their scope and enable them to assess clients in long term care (LTC) facilities. Sixteen ECPs respond

to calls from 15 LTC facilities in Capital Health using EHS-based patient codes. ECPs work collaboratively with family physicians assigned to LTC residents and Emergency Department physicians. Evaluation results show a 48% reduction in transport of patients and illustrate the role that ECPs can play in supporting end of life care. Potential future roles for ECPs include: enabling 24/7 pain and symptom control for persons in their own homes at end of life; supporting a care plan and limiting family and care provider distress; and building community and professional collaborate understanding while supporting community-based end of life care.

A literature review highlighted measures that are useful in the primary care setting including ESAS, POS, Palliative Performance Scale, and satisfaction tools. Measures of access are also important. An end of life algorithm that provides links to tools to help primary care providers support end of life care has been developed through the Practice Support Program of the British Columbia General Practice Service Initiative and was of interest to the Workshop participants. The potential to develop a version of the tool for the Nova Scotia context was noted.

Workshop participants discussed whether ESAS, POS, the Abbey Pain Scale or other symptom assessment would be useful. It was felt that all of the tools would be useful in primary care, although there are advantages and disadvantages of the various measures and potential challenges to implementation. The challenges include potential to interfere with the face to face interactions, timing of administration, determining eligibility to administer, policy to support training in using tools, the need for communication across provider groups, the importance of electronic application, and building public awareness about end of life care and assessment processes.

Next Steps

End of life care encompasses multiple settings and providers and therefore collaboration is essential. Because of the range of providers and sectors involved in end of life care, it will be challenging to develop standardized assessment. Broader system issues need to be addressed to including the development and use of electronic medical records and change management at the practice level. Interest in end of life care is building and leadership is required to move forward with practice and system enhancements that will support effective symptom and outcome measurement for persons at end of life, their families and care providers.

Introduction

The Network for End of Life Studies (NELS) is a team of researchers in Nova Scotia, Canada who are working to enhance interdisciplinary research capacity through collaborations aimed at improving end of life care. NELS received funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) through a multi-year (2006-2013) Interdisciplinary Capacity Enhancement (ICE) grant to help build research capacity through a systematic focus on vulnerable populations. The goal of this ICE grant was to improve care for persons at end of life by enhancing interdisciplinary research capacity. The specific objectives of the NELS ICE were to:

- 1. Develop a system that will enhance identification and surveillance of populations that are vulnerable at end of life.
- 2. Design and conduct pilot studies to facilitate the development of research proposals to examine and address vulnerability and inequity in the provision of quality end of life care.
- 3. Engage in knowledge translation to inform decision-makers, health professionals and researchers on the provision of end of life care in vulnerable populations.
- 4. Further build an interdisciplinary team of researchers, trainees, health professionals and community partners.

Two NELS ICE surveillance reports were released in 2008¹. This was followed by the production of a series of NELS newsletters². This is a further report funded by the ICE grant. NELS work is expected to continue through support from new research grants and in-kind contributions.

The focus of this report is on the need for a province-wide symptom and outcome measurement to facilitate improvements to care provision, greater access to care, and the assessment of palliative support for persons at end of life. This report includes information presented and feedback gathered at the NELS ICE Symptoms and Outcome Measurement for End of Life Care in Nova Scotia Workshop, held Wednesday, February 29, 2012 in Halifax. Appendix A is the workshop agenda. Appendix B is the list of workshop participants.

¹ See: <u>http://nels.schoolofhealthservicesadministration.dal.ca/pdfs/Listening%20to%20Stakeholders%20Report.pdf</u> <u>http://nels.schoolofhealthservicesadministration.dal.ca/pdfs/End%20of%20Life%20Care%20in%20Nova%20Scotia</u> <u>%20Surveillance%20Report.pdf</u>

² See NELS News at: http://nels.schoolofhealthservicesadministration.dal.ca/nelsnews.html

Definition and Description of End of Life Care

The term "end of life care" has been used to mean 1) all health care that a person receives during the last weeks and months with a life-limiting chronic disease, 2) terminal care in the last hours and days of life, and 3) synonymously with palliative and hospice care. The first definition is the most inclusive, distinct from other terms, reflective of emerging trends, and therefore is the definition used in this report.

End of life care is a term that has emerged internationally in academic research and government reports (Lien Foundation, 2010; National Gold Standard Framework Centre, 2011; Carstairs, S. 2000; Field, M.J., et al, 1997; Palliative Care Australia, 2008). These reports feature multi-sectoral approaches to improving care for persons with life-limiting chronic disease in contrast to specialty palliative or hospice care and a traditional focus on cancer (Lorenz, et al, 2005). End of life care reports often focus on the appropriateness of curative, hospital, (Bloomer, et al, 2011) emergency department and intensive care services (Nelson, et al, 2006) during the time when a person's health is steadily or intermittently failing and death approaches. Improving the delivery of primary care is featured (National Association for End of Life Care, 2009) to enable access to care for the increasing numbers of people at end of life given an aging population. To achieve patient focused care, greater coordination and integration of services is advocated (Wilson, et al, 2008). As major economic challenges confront national health systems, improving cost effectiveness is paramount, as is assessing quality of care (Department of Health, 2008; Grunfeld, et al, 2008) and outcomes (Lorenz, et al, 2005).

A palliative hospice 'approach' or 'philosophy' is increasingly being used as the language to advocate for a transfer of the goals and specialized skills of hospice and palliative care in symptom control to a wide range of health services that traditionally focused on curative, life extending, and rehabilitative care (Thompson, et al, 2006). Palliative and hospice care are terms that have been used for a number of decades for services that highlight quality of life and supportive care over attempts at cure which are likely to be futile at prolonging good quality of life.

Good end of life care implies a planned and coordinated palliative approach for symptom control and reassessing disease treatment goals (Lunney, et al, 2003; Lorenz, et al, 2005). End of life care is a balance of palliative and curative care which shifts over time reflecting the disease trajectory of one's life-limiting illness (Lunney, et al, 2003). A theme in end of life care reports is the need to begin earlier to plan for the possibility of death through the development of advance care plans.

Purposes of the Symptom and Outcomes Workshop

The focus of the workshop was on gaining a better understanding of some of the symptoms and outcome measures that are being used in Nova Scotia. In his opening remarks, Dr. Fred Burge commented that we need to record the symptoms and care for persons at end of life and better understand the outcomes we are trying to achieve. He indicated that the workshop would allow for reflection on the current measurement infrastructure, and discussion on what else is needed to better support symptom and outcome measurement at end of life.

The Gold Standards Framework (GSF) of the United Kingdom (UK) is accepted internationally as providing guidance for best practices for palliative and end of life care. An implicit assumption during the development of the workshop was that Nova Scotia should consider a modified GSF approach, including adapting the GSF prognostic approach³. Concurrent with the development of the workshop, Elaine Loney was contracted to prepare a literature review of best practices for tools to support primary palliative care. The summary of this review is in Appendix C. The review noted that the Palliative Support Program (PSP) introduced in British Columbia (see Appendix D) might have particular relevance for adaption in Nova Scotia. Both documents were provided to workshop attendees.

The objectives of the workshop on Symptoms and Outcomes Measurement for End of Life Care were:

- 1. To demonstrate the need for symptom and outcome measurements and review some of the emerging diversity of measures that track persons needing a palliative approach and receiving care at end of life;
- 2. To identify the strengths, weaknesses, and implementation challenges associated with symptom and outcome measures being used or considered for Nova Scotia;
- 3. To enable input on recommendations for collaboration and leadership to develop comprehensive symptom and outcome assessment; and
- 4. To aid in the emergence of cross-sector collaborative leadership in end of life care symptom and outcome measures for research and operational planning in Nova Scotia.

³ Gold Standards Framework (2008) **Prognostic Indicator Guidance Paper**. National Gold Standards Framework Centre. England. Retrieved December 27, 2011 from:

http://www.goldstandardsframework.org.uk/Resources/Gold%20Standards%20Framework/PDF%20Doc uments/PrognosticIndicatorGuidancePaper.pdf

Limitations and Assumptions

Some limitations of this workshop and report are:

- 1. Focus was on some of the measurements currently in use and under consideration in Nova Scotia. *A comprehensive review and discussion of all measurement tools has not been carried out.*
- 2. Focus was on knowledge exchange of researchers with practitioners and policy makers. The workshop organizers are researchers, not operational leaders. *Further emergence of policy and operational leadership is a next step that is needed.*
- 3. Focus was on end of life care symptom and outcome measures for all persons in Nova Scotia with advanced life limiting chronic disease. *Assessment of needs and support for their family caregivers is critically important, but was not the focus of this workshop and report.*
- 4. This symptom and outcome measurement focus is grounded in the current state of knowledge of biomedical, evidence-based, categorical/quantitative care assessment⁴. A holistic, qualitative understanding of the life experience and context of persons at end of life is very and possibly more important but not the focus of this report.

An assumption in the development of this workshop was that ESAS and POS were the gold standards for symptoms and outcome measurement, respectively, and that they should be used, recorded electronically, and tracked over time to enable 24/7 collaborative care for individuals who are at end of life. However, it was recognized that other measures being used in Nova Scotia should also be considered or adapted for a comprehensive, system-wide end of life care information system.

Before summarising the workshop proceedings, the next section provides an overview of the current state of selected components of symptom and outcome assessment of persons at end of life in Nova Scotia.

⁴ An excellent critique of the biomedical model of symptom assessment for persons with advanced disease can be found in the recent (April 2012) Dalhousie University MAHSR thesis by Margaret Donahue entitled: "Being-Breathless-In-The-World: A Heideggerian Hermeneutic Phenomenological Interpretation of the Lived Experience of Advanced Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)", pages 1-3, 11, 15, 20, 80-87.

Network for End of Life Studies (NELS) Interdisciplinary Capacity Enhancement (ICE)

Workshop Context

Symptom Measurement: To plan and assess care at end of life, symptom assessment can often be more critical than disease classification. To date, the delivery of health care has usually been developed on the basis of clinical standards for specific diseases and health care facilities, but these are not optimal approaches for person-centred end-of-life care which typically crosses disease silos and care settings, e.g., hospital, home, long term care (LTC) facility, clinics, and emergency services. Not surprisingly, as will be seen below, the current symptom and outcome measures that are being used in Nova Scotia have largely been developed by disease-based programs or individual health services. Person-focused measurements that are accessible and track across health conditions and places of care are lacking.

In Nova Scotia, the *Edmonton Symptoms Assessment Scale (ESAS)* is beginning to be used by cancer patient navigators and others for distress screening for persons with cancer. The Veteran's Memorial has introduced the *Abbey Pain Scale* for use by care workers providing personal care for non-verbal (dementia, etc.) persons. The *InterRAI Home Care (HC)* is advocated by the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) and is used across Nova Scotia for the assessment of need for home care and LTC facility placement. The 2011 Nova Scotia Department of Health and Wellness "Better Care Sooner" report is a response to the Emergency Department report by John Ross (2010), which recommends changes to primary care provision.⁵ The Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment tool is advised for consideration for frail elderly 75 years and older. In February 2011, an innovative Extended Care Paramedic program was introduced in Capital Health as a component of 'care by design' for persons in LTC facilities to reduce avoidable transfers to emergency departments and hospital admissions. Primary care is expected to have an increasing role in palliative and end of life care and so useful cross sector end of life care assessment tools will be needed.

Outcomes Measurement: For the evaluation of health services provision, outcomes measurement often includes mortality rates, recovery rates, survival or disease free survival, and cure rates. For the assessment of care at end of life, these are not appropriate outcome measures. Alternate, measures of good care are needed. Internationally, the *Patient Outcome Scale (POS)* is advocated through the leadership of Dr Irene Higginson and others in the UK, and by the European Association of Palliative Care.

⁵ Information on Nova Scotia's "Better Care Sooner" is at: http://gov.ns.ca/health/bettercaresooner/

Network for End of Life Studies (NELS) Interdisciplinary Capacity Enhancement (ICE)

Workshop Process

During the workshop, participants heard presentations and worked in small groups to review key questions. Clare Levin from Research Power Incorporated recorded the workshop proceedings. After Dr Fred Burge set the stage by presenting the purpose of the Workshop, Dr Grace Johnston provided further context for the day (Appendix E). This was followed by presentations by Dr Janice Howes on ESAS (Appendix F) and by Dr Paul McIntyre and Glenna Thornhill on POS (Appendix G). After the ESAS and POS presentations, there was a small group discussion on whether the tools should be used province-wide and potential challenges to implementation. Volunteers from the small groups recorded and submitted their discussion. A summary of submitted workshop attendee comments are included in this report.

In the afternoon, other measures being used were reviewed. Elsie Rolls presented on using the Abbey Pain Scale at the Veteran's Memorial for non-verbal Veteran residents (Appendix H). Joanne Boudreau described the InterRAI Home Care (RAI-HC) screening and assessment tool that is being used across the province to assess the need for home care or admission to a long term care (LTC) facility (Appendix I). New roles for emergency and primary care practice for persons at end of life are emerging. Therefore, Jan Jenson and Dr Andrew Travers were asked to present on the Extended Care Paramedic (ECP) Program (Appendix J) and Dr Fred Burge on the delivery of primary care (Appendix K). After these four presentations, a small group carousel process was used to invite attendee feedback on integrating measures across disease silos (e.g. should ESAS be used across other care settings, and if so what are factors that would need to be considered?) and care settings (e.g. RAI-HC in relation to other measures and care settings; what might be useful to the ECP Program and primary care?). The small group discussions were facilitated and recorded by the presenters and their colleagues. The written notes submitted from the small group sessions are summarized in this report.

The final session of the workshop was a large group discussion on implementation challenges, leadership, and next steps which was facilitated by Stephanie Heath from Research Power Inc. The remainder of this report provides background information prepared prior to the workshop for reflection⁶, insights from the workshop presentations, and summary points from the discussion sessions⁷.

⁶ Alyson Lamb assisted Grace Johnston and Stephanie Heath in the preparation of an early version of this document that was reviewed by the presenters and circulated prior to the workshop.

⁷ This Report was circulated to all presenters for review and further editing prior to its release. Network for End of Life Studies (NELS) Interdisciplinary Capacity Enhancement (ICE)

Symptom and Outcome Measurement

EDMONTON SYMPTOMS ASSESSMENT SCALE (ESAS)

The Edmonton Symptom and Assessment Scale (ESAS) was developed in 1991 in Edmonton, Alberta to quantitatively measure symptom intensity with minimal patient burden (Bruera, Kuehn, Miller, Selmser, Macmillan, 1991) for persons with advanced stages of cancer. It has been validated (Nekolaichuk, Watanabe, Beaumont, 2008) and adapted for use by persons with other chronic conditions. It is useful for symptom assessment at any stage of the disease trajectory, not just at end of life.

ESAS is advocated by the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer (CPAC) to assess symptoms experienced by cancer survivors. ESAS has been implemented by Cancer Care Ontario for selfcompletion by all patients at registration for every cancer clinic visit. In Nova Scotia, ESAS is used along with a distress thermometer and symptom checklist (Canadian Problem Checklist) for distress screening by patient navigators, Palliative Care Services and in selected cancer clinics.

ESAS started as an eight-item patient-related symptom visual analogue scale developed for selfreporting symptom intensity by advanced cancer patients (Bruera et al., 1991). A ninth symptom (shortness of breath) was later added, as well as an optional tenth item, a specific symptom identified by the patient (Bruera et al., 1991). The most recent version of the scale uses an 11-point numerical rating scale for each symptom (higher scores indicate worse symptom intensity).

ESAS is one of the Accreditation Canada recommended quality indicators for hospice palliative care services. The format of use may vary across clinics (e.g. sometimes a tenth item is added, sometimes it is not). Alberta Health Services has developed a modified version of the ESAS, the ESAS-r which is more user-friendly and overcomes some of the problems using ESAS. ESAS is intended to be completed by patients with minimal assistance from health professionals or family members. However, it should be reviewed by a health care provider with the patient after it is completed.

A	dvantages of Measure	D	isadvantages of Measure
•	Designed for repeated comparative	•	Reliability of self-assessment
	measurement		measures are not always trusted by
•	Minimal patient burden		clinicians and researchers
•	Quantitative measurement	•	Could be confusion regarding self-
•	Tested in a variety of patient populations		assessment and therefore may
•	Used for clinical, administrative and research		require assistance from trained staff
	purposes	•	Multiple versions in use

Workshop Feedback:

At the workshop, participants worked in small groups to discuss ESAS. While most groups felt that it could be used across Nova Scotia, each group identified advantages and disadvantages to using the tool, as well as implementation considerations if the use of the tool was further expanded across the province.

Advantages of Measure	Disadvantages of Measure
• Can be used in multiple venues (i.e.	• Literacy may be an issue in using the tool
hospital, LTC facility, at home)	• The tool cannot be used by individuals
 Already used in Nova Scotia 	who have cognitive impairments
• Comparable data is available (data is	• The symptoms list in the tool are cancer-
collected systematically for all cancer	focused and may not adequately represent
patients in Ontario)	other chronic diseases (e.g. dementia,
• Large body of literature using the tool	renal or liver disease)
• Flexible administration of the tool, but	• With current use in Nova Scotia, there is a
there is a need to indicate who reports the	lack of standardization in how it is used
scores (patient, caregiver, health	(e.g. different recall periods being used)
professional, etc.)	 Need to determine the frequency and
	carry out training in terms of standardized
	protocols
	 The tool does not include a functional
	screen/physical assessment
	• A barrier in using it across sectors
	(hospital, primary care, LTC facilities)
	could be a lack of communication between
	these sectors – communication is needed
	to ensure over-screening is not occurring
	• The self-reported nature of the scale may
	make it difficult to interpret given
	individual variations

Considerations for Implementation:

- Important to standardize the tools being used to measure distress, and to develop a standardized protocol for using the selected tool (e.g. frequency of screening/rescreening, protocol following screening, etc.)
- ESAS may need to be used in collaboration with other tools (e.g. Functional Assessment Activities of Daily Living (ADL), Spiritual Assessment, POS Palliative Outcome Scale, Assessment of Family Distress)
- Communication between different care providers (e.g. primary care, hospital) is critical to ensure that patients are not being over-screened
- ESAS needs to be valid for use with other conditions/diseases and in settings with older adults with frailty
- A plan for broad implementation needs to consider the time involved in conducting the screening and follow up, including time for data entry, and could identify which health care professionals may be responsible for which tasks
- Practices need to be appropriately supported to adopt the tool (practice change support), especially in non-cancer sectors, including education and training
- If the data is going to be held centrally, this location needs to be determined (may be difficult when data are collected across diseases and sectors)
- Need to consider how the broader family picture of distress can be assessed can families be included in this or is another type of assessment required?
- Resource structure for referral and management needs to be clarified

PATIENT OUTCOME SCALE (POS)

Patient Outcome Scale (POS)⁸ was developed by a Palliative Care Core Audit Project Committee in the UK from a systematic review of palliative care tools which identified problems with current tools. The tool was developed in eight centres providing palliative care across England and Scotland; 450 patients were involved in the initial study. Initially, POS was called the Palliative Outcome Scale, but may be renamed the Patient Outcome Scale, at the discretion of the user, since its use is not restricted to end of life care. Use is open to registered users (no fee).

POS is a tool to measure patients' physical symptoms as well as their psychological, emotional and spiritual needs. It provides information and support at the end of life. POS consists of 10 questions which focus on control of pain and other symptoms, patient anxiety, family anxiety, provision of information, level of support, life worth, self-worth, wasted time and personal

⁸ See more information on POS at: http://pos-pal.org/

Tool download is at: http://pos-pal.org/POS-in-English.php

Network for End of Life Studies (NELS) Interdisciplinary Capacity Enhancement (ICE)

affairs. In addition to these ten questions, patients are asked to list their "main problems". There are three different versions of the questionnaire to be used respectively by the patient, a family member/caregiver, or a health care provider. POS has been translated into 12 languages and validated (Hearn, Higginson, Palliative Care Core Audit Project Advisory Group, 1999). There are modular optional versions of the POS (i.e. specific to certain diseases, e.g. MS) as well as an add-on symptom card, the POS-S.

POS has been widely adopted in both Europe and Africa, but it is not widely used in Canada and the United States. Since mid 2009, the Capital Health Integrated Palliative Service has used and recorded both POS and ESAS in medical charts for every patient to track needs over time. The plan is to begin recording these measures electronically through the CASPER platform.

Advantages of Measure	Disadvantages of Measure
Outcome measure	• Inherent issues with self assessment
• Validated tool (validated for use in broad	 Not widely used in Canada and Nova
population, i.e. not just cancer)	Scotia
• Can be used as a clinical care, audit, research,	
and training tool	
• Widely used internationally (Europe, Australia,	
Asia, Africa and America) with internationally	
comparable data available	
Available in 12 languages	
 Staff and patient versions 	

Workshop Feedback:

At the workshop, participants worked in small groups to discuss POS. Each group identified advantages and disadvantages to using the tool, as well as implementation considerations if the tool was used across the province.

Advantages of Measure	Disadvantages of Measure
• The tool helps to ensure clinicians address issues	• Checkbox style of the tool may not fit
that may not be on their chart (e.g. practical	with the model of care
issues) and issues that patients may not	• Literacy may be an issue for some
otherwise have identified that they need	patients
assistance with	• Some questions may not be applicable at
 Can be used as a benchmarking tool 	all points – i.e. frequency of
 POS's scope is broader and looks at more 	appointments, wasted time
domains than the ESAS	• Functional measures are not included in
• Tool can be completed by patient, caregiver, or	the tool
health care provider – this means that data	• Not all questions are appropriate for all
could be collected for a longer time period than	sectors

Advantages of Measure	Disadvantages of Measure
for tools requiring a self-report	• POS uses a scale of 0-4 for rating pain –
 Symptom add-on checklist and different 	this may cause confusion and is
versions of the tool (for different diseases)	inconsistent with the standard 0-10 scale
provide added flexibility and customization	that has been used for years
• Fosters inter-disciplinary team discussion	• Efforts are already being made to
• Factor analysis shows POS captures two factors:	implement ESAS in the province, so it
quality of care and psychological status as well	may be challenging to implement a
as three independent items: family anxiety, pain	different scale ; however ESAS and POS
and symptoms.	have different functions and therefore
	using both is appropriate

Considerations for Implementation:

- Important to develop a standardized protocol for using POS (e.g. frequency of screening/re-screening, follow up protocol following screening, etc.) the frequency of screening may need to be adjusted depending on disease trajectory
- Need to consider how data will be stored and the results/changes tracked over time
- Training and support for its use is key, as well as support/structure for practice change; education and communication will be needed to ensure a standardized approach
- Leadership and resources will be needed to support implementation
- The patient scale should be used for self-reporting outcomes when possible
- If the patient completed the scale prior to the visit, collecting the data would not become the focus of the visit instead the health care provider could focus on reviewing and discussing the information with the patient
- Would be good to have a way to also assess caregiver needs
- May work well to use both POS and ESAS concurrently POS does not measure what ESAS measures, it's a complement

ABBEY PAIN SCALE

The Abbey Pain Scale (Abbey, Piller, De Bellis, Esterman, Parker, Giles, Lowcay, 2004) was developed in Australia, after it was recognized that a significant number of elderly people were dying of end-stage dementia and their pain was not being adequately assessed or treated. The tool was developed in two stages, in 1997 and in a 2002 sampling residents in 24 residential facilities in Australia. The first stage focused on developing the tool and the second stage modified the tool to make it more efficient and effective for a variety of people to use to assess pain in residents with end-stage dementia.

The tool is a one page assessment that uses non-verbal observable care to score the observed level of pain that the person is experiencing. Observations of facial expressions, vocalization, physiological, behaviours, body language and physical conditions are used.

At the Veterans' Memorial facility in Halifax, this tool is used by care providers on each shift, i.e., three times a day, for each resident Veteran. More than 90% of the residents are affected by Alzheimer's disease or dementia. A palliative philosophy has been introduced along with the Abbey Pain Scale.

Advantages of Measure	Disadvantages of Measure
• Can be used with persons who have dementia	 Based on care provider observation
or who cannot verbalize	and so there may be variability in
• Quick (1 minute)	assessment
 Developed using a variety of care providers 	

Workshop Feedback:

At the workshop, participants worked in small groups to discuss the Abbey Pain Scale and it was agreed that there may be value in using the scale in addition to ESAS or other symptom measurements for persons at end of life who are non-verbal including those with dementia. Each group discussed if a common symptom assessment scale should be used for non-verbal persons in all settings. A summary of the discussion is provided below.

- Important to assess pain but it is also important to go beyond pain assessment and explore other types of scales for symptom assessment in persons who are non-verbal
- Good observational skills are required to use the tool and training would be required to ensure the tool is used consistently
- Advantages to using a common symptom assessment scale for non-verbal persons across setting as this would enable comparability and could help to facilitate continuity of care
- Tool that is best for the client should be used
- If the tool is not validated, it is not good for research purposes but might be useful in clinical settings

INTERRAI HOME CARE (RAI~HC)

InterRAI (Resident Assessment Instrument) is a collaborative network of researchers in over 30 countries committed to improving health care for persons who are elderly, frail, or disabled and living in the community. Their goal is to promote evidence-based clinical practice and policy decisions through the collection and interpretation of high quality data about the characteristics and outcomes of persons served across a variety of health and social services settings.

InterRAI HC (Home Care)⁹ was developed in 1993-94 and revised in 1999 to develop a common language for assessing the health status and care needs. RAI-HC is one of many InterRAI assessment tools. InterRAI assessment tools are designed to work together, sharing common language and common measures.

InterRAI supports a standardized process in clinical assessment, care planning, and generation of quality indicators and other outputs to support system planning. The care provider assesses functional status, health status, social support, and service use and asks both the clients and caregiver the questions. There are a suite of 15 assessments that highlight function and quality of life. There are 19 domains and the assessment usually takes place in the client's home and usually requires two to three hours or more to complete. InterRAI HC is linked to Client Assessment Protocols (CAPs) that have over 30 problem oriented plans that can be used to guide the care of the client. CAPs related to end of life care include palliative care, pain, cognition, depression and anxiety, nutrition, oral health, medication management, bowel management, urinary incontinence and indwelling catheter.

InterRAI HC outcomes related to palliative and end of life include: a pain scale, CHESS (Change in Health, end stage disease and signs and symptoms), depression rating scale, ADL (Activities of Daily Living) self-performance hierarchy scale, cognitive performance scale, and MAPLe (Method of Assigning Priority Level risk of adverse outcomes based on 14 elements).

InterRAI Palliative Care (PC) assessment has been tested internationally and has many similar domains as RAI-HC but they are more related to palliative and end of life. Additional domains include psychosocial well- being, treatments and procedures, responsibility/directive. Domains not included in the InterRAI PC tool are: vision patterns, disease diagnosis, health conditions and preventative health measures, dental status and environment assessment. Currently,

⁹ http://www.interrai.org/section/view/?fnode=15

Network for End of Life Studies (NELS) Interdisciplinary Capacity Enhancement (ICE)

InterRAI is finalizing CAPS for palliative care. CAPS include pain, mood, anxiety, dyspnea, bowel-GI, skin ulcers, sleep disturbance, fatigue, life completion, advance care, client wishes, delirium, nutrition, information supports, and caregiver distress.

The Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) advocates using InterRAI assessment tools for interprovincial comparisons¹⁰. Since 2002 in Nova Scotia, the Single Entry Access (SEA) program has used the RAI-HC for assessment for both home care and eligibility for LTC facility admission. The InterRAI LTC (MDS 2.0) tool was piloted in the province and is currently used at six LTC facilities, but is not in widespread use. The palliative tool, InterRAI PC, has been purchased but is not implemented in Nova Scotia at this time.

Advantages of Measure	Disadvantages of Measure
• Standardized tool	 Requires technology
• Able to compare with other provinces	 Training of staff required
• Tested and validated in many countries and	• Relies on assessment by trained
settings	personal to ensure accuracy of
• Linked to outcomes	information gathered
• Pain and Palliative CAP's	

Workshop Feedback:

At the February 29 workshop, participants worked in small groups to discuss the InterRAI HC assessment and screening tool including its strengths and whether ESAS or other symptom measurement should be used along with InterRAI HC for continuing care (HC and LTC) assessment in the province. A summary of the discussion is provided below.

- Could help to inform the allocation of resources
- Using ESAS or other symptom measurement may be redundant if the questions are already captured through the InterRAI HC assessment
- ESAS should be used for commonality and comparability it is used in other settings
- Would be great if the InterRAI assessment findings could be provided to health care providers beyond the home care program

¹⁰ http://www.cihi.ca/CIHI-ext-portal/pdf/internet/HCRS_PIA_2006_EN

Network for End of Life Studies (NELS) Interdisciplinary Capacity Enhancement (ICE)

EMERGENCY HEALTH SERVICES (EHS) EXTENDED CARE PARAMEDIC (ECP)

Research by Barry Clarke et al in Halifax in 2006 has shown that 60% of patients that are taken from long term care facilities to Emergency Departments (EDs) by ambulance in response to a 911 call for emergency services are returned to the LTC facility without admission to hospital.

The typical EHS response differs dramatically from end of life care in the following ways:

- EHS calls are quick whereas end of life care requires time
- The public assumes EHS will always resuscitate and this is what paramedics are trained to provide
- Lack of protocols for end of life care by EHS
- Paramedics discomfort in providing palliative service

Through the provincial government's Better Care Sooner initiative, a commitment was made to develop a new Extended Care Paramedic (ECP) Program to bring emergency services to nursing home residents – reducing the need for transfers to hospitals in Capital Health. The ECP program was initiated in February 2011 after seven ECPs received training for this new role. After a second cohort was trained a year later, there are 16 ECPs. The program includes one week of in-class training, one day of clinical at a teaching LTC facility and one day of training in the ED. ECPs work in non-transport capable vehicles with a broadened scope of practice. ECPs respond to 15 LTC facilities in the Halifax region and consult with the family physician assigned to the LTC resident and an ED physician on every call. ECPs offer more disposition options than are available to traditional EHS paramedics including:

- Urgent ambulance transport to the ED
- Transfer to the ED or other location (e.g., diagnostic imaging) at times when the wait time can be minimized
- Assessment of the patient on site by the ECP in collaboration with LTC nursing staff and consultations with the ED physician and LTC physician for the patient and providing care as directed

Both qualitative and quantitative research methods were used to assess the new ECP program. The findings include:

- The ECP approach to LTC emergency calls differs from a standard paramedic approach in terms of time on calls, consultation and discussion and complexity of decision making
- Advance care directives influence the approach and subsequent care plans of the ECP
- ECPs can bring important information and a fresh perspective when communicating with the LTC resident, the resident's family members, and LTC staff

- End of life care handover is critical in terms of recognizing when it was time for the ECP to leave and the importance of the hand-over of health care back to the LTC care team
- ECP preparation for end of life care was discussed somewhat in their initial training but the ECPs are seeing more terminal care cases than was initially expected; ECPs feel they are learning as they go and that their experience is important for learning

The quantitative data revealed a 48% risk reduction in transport of LTC residents. The program received a gold medal for Healthcare Innovation from the Institute of Public Administration of Canada.

The presentation concluded with a review of the potential expanded role of the EHS ECP in end of life care including supporting improvement of:

- Pain and symptom control for all persons at end of life
- Community and professional understanding and support
- Coordination of 24/7 care for all persons at end of life
- Satisfaction with care and better control of family and care provider distress

ECPs have the potential to facilitate quality, timely and cost-effective care; decrease the delay in commencement of a palliative approach; decrease multiple assessments, referrals and transfers; and decrease ineffective use of hospital beds, emergency departments and diagnostic testing.

Workshop Feedback

The small groups discussed if ESAS, POS and/or the Abbey Pain Scale (or other symptom assessment for non-verbal patients) would be useful for paramedics assessing the needs of a person that could be at end of life. It was felt that the results of all three measures would be useful for paramedics to know (would provide a baseline) but assessment in isolation would not be effective. ESAS and POS would not be useful for crisis intervention. However it was felt that the Abbey Pain Scale (or other symptom assessment for non-verbal patients) could be helpful for paramedics and emergency departments.

Another tool that was identified for EHS use is POLST (Physician Orders for Life Sustaining Treatment) which states a person's wishes for end of life care. The importance of the EHS Special Patient Program (SPP) and registry was noted. The SPP provides EHS paramedics with the pre-defined care plans of a patient and includes contact information for the physician that the paramedics to call in relation to caring for the patient. This EHS program is underutilized but could readily be expanded to improve care for persons at end of life.

PRIMARY CARE

In the primary care presentation, it was noted that many sectors or parts of the health system are increasingly working together to support more effective end of life care. Some questions were raised for consideration:

- Have we identified those who should be identified as potentially palliative?
- Have we assessed their needs well?
- Has care been coordinated with others well?
- Have we provided good care?
 - o Access
 - o Patient-centered: Patient goals, information sharing, joint decision-making
 - o Physical comfort
 - o Practical support

The literature review completed by Elaine Loney (Appendix C) highlights measures that may be useful to apply in Primary Care settings including: POS, ESAS, Palliative Performance Scale (PPS) and satisfaction tools (information, shared decision making). Measures of access are also important e.g., family reported, patient reported, reports by other health care providers, and by others services such as palliative care. It is also important to consider markers of good care such as low use of EDs, minimal hospitalization, use of community resources, etc.

The Practice Support Program (PSP) of the British Columbia (BC) General Practice Service Initiative provides training for practitioners to improve care of patients and families living with, suffering and dying from life-limiting and chronic illnesses. Physicians learn how to identify patients who could benefit from a palliative approach to care; increase confidence and communication skills to enable Advance Care Planning (ACP) conversations; and improve collaboration with palliative care and non-palliative specialist services, patients, families and caregivers. An end of life algorithm has been developed and is available through the electronic medical record (EMR). The algorithm provides links to tools to help providers support end of life care for their patients e.g., there is a link to the ESAS. There is the opportunity to develop a Nova Scotia version of the BC tool. However, Nova Scotia does not have the same degree of support as BC to facilitate primary health care practice change e.g., a structure such as the BC Practice Support Program that provides learning modules, tools, etc.

Workshop Feedback

The small groups discussed whether ESAS, POS, the Abbey Pain Scale or other symptom assessments would be useful in primary care to assess the needs of a person that could be at end

of life. Participants were also asked to reflect on potential challenges to using the tools in primary care.

Participants of the small groups appeared to feel that ESAS or other symptom scales or checklists would be useful. Participants noted that ESAS was similar to a targeted system review. It has utility to monitor response to drug therapy to reduce symptoms. They liked the simplicity and low responder burden compared to POS. Participants preferred the original layout of ESAS compared to the CCNS layout with the distress tool. Some had concerns that it may not cover symptoms for other causes of death as it was designed for cancer.

In terms of POS, the small groups noted that it may not be as easily integrated as ESAS. Some items in the tool serve clinical care and some serve performance monitoring of the system, and the wording was not "Canadianized". It was noted that one tool could lead to another e.g., POS triggers ESAS.

Participants felt that self-assessment should be used for ESAS and POS when the person at end of life is able to complete as it enables the person to contribute directly to care planning. A large number of persons receiving primary care are still physically able to complete the tools. One group asked if POS would be more easily completed by patients than ESAS. It was also noted that assessment tools could be placed on-line, e.g., in a personal health record, or requested by a health care provider, and if the score is at or above a certain level, this could trigger the need for action to be taken.

Participants felt that the Abbey Pain Scale or other symptom assessments for non-verbal patients could be used in primary care (in the office or home) for cognitively impaired patients and would also be useful to monitor symptom response to drug therapy. Participants felt that family assessment should be used for the Abbey Pain Scale as it would engage them in the process and families may be attuned to behaviour change.

Potential challenges identified to using the tools in primary care included:

- Concern about how to implement tools without interfering with the face-to-face meeting
- Timing in terms of administering the tools
- Determining if the PPS should be used for all those identified as potentially palliative and determining who is eligible to administer the tool
- The need to exercise judgment in tool use
- Ensuring tools are completed as intended, e.g., by patients, not providers when applicable

- Need for policy to support training in use of the tools
- Communicating across care provider groups, e.g., family physicians, palliative care programs, homecare
- Need to ensure providers have results of previous administration of tool to guide care
- Importance of administering the tool electronically. Tools are not useful if they exist in paper format only
- Need to enhance the public's ability to deal with this area of the life experience

Next Steps

At the conclusion of the workshop, meeting participants were asked to reflect on next steps in moving forward with symptoms and outcomes measurement for end of life care in Nova Scotia. The following points were noted:

- No one owns end of life care as it cuts across all sectors and all sectors have responsibility to support end of life care
- Collaboration is critical
- Further discussions are required and leadership is needed to continue to move forward
- It is daunting to think of developing a standardized assessment for end of life care across sectors and the entire system
- Broader issues need to be addressed including how the electronic medical record (EMR) can support the implementation of end of life assessments across sectors
- There is a need to identify and explore opportunities to use the EMR and other communication and information technology techniques
- End of life care algorithm from BC could provide a framework that Nova Scotia could start to populate. Currently providers cannot readily access tools for end of life care
- Support for implementation and practice change are critical for all types and locations of care including primary care, hospitals, long term care, etc
- It is important to learn from our own experiences. When implementing the Abbey Pain Scale, a change model was used that included education of staff, involvement of leadership in delivering the training and education, and reaching out to staff to ensure education sessions were convenient, etc
- Interest in end of life care is increasing and there is the beginning of a public health or community health lens on end of life care. This could become an opportunity to further improve access and use of measures and tools for symptom and outcome assessment

The workshop organizers are hopeful that other groups will sponsor sessions to continue to invite stakeholder input. Cancer Care Nova Scotia is sponsoring a half day concurrent session on April 20, 2012 at their provincial meeting. The Nova Scotia Renal Program is sponsoring a day long workshop in May 4, 2012 for renal and palliative care providers from districts across the province. Researchers, operational programs, and policy makers are encouraged to further build on this progress.

Conclusion

The workshop presented several tools for symptom and outcome measurement at end of life that are being used in Nova Scotia. Workshop participants had the opportunity to review the measures and discuss their advantages and disadvantages. Participants discussed potential challenges and opportunities for implementation in a variety of settings across the continuum, e.g., primary care, emergency health services, continuing care etc. The workshop helped to illustrate the diversity of measures that track persons needing a palliative approach for their care. Meeting participants recognized the potential for duplication and inconsistency in symptom and outcomes measurement given the many tools available. Standardized assessment for end of life care across settings would be challenging.

The need to address broader system issues such as implementation of electronic medical records and change management support was highlighted. Systems supports will be required to effectively support symptom and outcome measurement at end of life. The meeting concluded with the acknowledgement of the growing interest in end of life care, and the need for further discussion related to supporting effective end of life care including symptom and outcomes measurement.

References

Abbey, J., Piller, N., De Bellis, A., Esterman, A., Parker, D., Giles, L., Lowcay, B. (2004). The Abbey pain scale: a 1-minute numerical indicator for people with end-stage dementia. *International Journal of Palliative Nursing*, *10* (1), 8-1.

Bloomer, M.J., Moss, C., Cross, W.M. (2011). End-of-life care in acute hospitals: An integrative literature review. *Journal of Nursing and Healthcare of Chronic Illness*. 3: 165-173.

Bruera E, Kuehn N, Miller MJ, Selmser P, Macmillan K. (1991) The Edmonton Symptom Assessment System (ESAS): a simple method for the assessment of palliative care patients. *Journal of Palliative Care*, 7(2), 6-9.

Carstairs, S. (2000). *Quality End-of-life Care: The Right of every Canadian.* Subcommittee of the Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs Science and Technology, Ottawa. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.parl.gc.ca/Content/SEN/Committee/362/upda/rep/repfinjun00-e.htm#1.%20End-of-Life%20in%20the%20Current%20Health%20Care%20System</u>

Department of Health. (2008). *End of Life Care Strategy: Promoting High Quality Care for all Adults at the End of Life*. National Health Service, UK.

Field, M.J., Cassel, C.K. (Editors). (1997). *Approaching Death; Improving Care at the End of Life.* Committee on Care at the End of Life, Division of Health Care Services, Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.

Grunfeld, E., Urquhart, R., Mykhalovskiy, E., Folkes, A., Johnston, G., Burge, F., Earle, C., Dent, S. (2008). Towards population based indicators of quality end-of-life care: Testing stakeholder agreement. *Cancer* 112 (10): 2301-2308.

Hearn, J., Higginson, I, on behalf of the Palliative Care Core Audit Project Advisory Group. (1999) Development and validation of a core outcome measure for palliative care: the palliative care outcome scale. *Quality in Health Care* 8, 219–227.

Lien Foundation. (2010). *The Quality of Death: Ranking End-of-life Care across the World*. Singapore: Economist Intelligence Unit, The Economist. Retrieved at http://www.eiu.com/site_info.asp?info_name=qualityofdeath_lienfoundation&page=noads&rf=0

Lorenz, K.A., Lynn, J., Morton, S.C., Dy, S.M., Shurgarman, L.M., Wilkinson, A., Mularski, R.A., Sun, V.C., Hughes, R.G., Rhodes, S.L., Maglione, M., Hilton, L.K., Rolon, C., Shekelle, P.G.

(2005). Methodological approaches for a systematic review of end-of-life care. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *8*, *Supplemental*. 1: 4-11.

Lunney, J.R., Lynn, J., Foley, D.J., Lipson, S., Guralnik, J.M. (2003). Patterns of functional decline at the end of life. *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 289(18): 2387-2392.

National Association for End of Life Care (2009). *End of Life Care in Primary Care*. Omega, UK. Retrieved from:

http://omega.uk.net/admin/uploads/file/National%20snapshot%20of%20end%20of%20life%20ca re%20-%20executive%20summary.pdf

National Gold Standard Framework Centre. (2011). *The Gold Standards Framework, enabling a Gold Standard of Care for all People nearing the End of Life.* Retrieved from: http://www.goldstandardsframework.org.uk/.

Nekolaichuk, C., Watanabe, S., Beaumont, C. (2008). The Edmonton Symptom Assessment System: a 15-year retrospective review of validation studies (1991-2006). *Palliative Medicine*, 22, 111-122.

Nelson, J.E., Angus, D.C., Weissfeld, L.A., Puntillo, K.A., Danis, M, Deal, D, Levy, M.M., Cook, D.J. (2006). End-of-life care for the critically ill: A national intensive care unit survey. *Critical Care Medicine*. 34(10), 2547-2553.

Palliative Care Australia. (2008). *Palliative and End of Life Care Glossary of Terms*. Retrieved from: http://www.palliativecare.org.au/Portals/46/PCA%20glossary.pdf

Special Senate Committee on Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide. (1995). *Final Report: Of Life and Death*. Ottawa. Retrieved from <u>http://www.parl.gc.ca/35/1/parlbus/commbus/senate/com-e/euth-e/rep-e/lad-tc-e.htm</u>

Thompson, G.N., McClement, S.E., Daeninck, P.J. (2006). "Changing Lanes": Facilitating the transition from curative to palliative care. *Journal of Palliative Care*. 22(2): 91-98.

Wilson, D.M., Birch, S., Sheps, S., Thomas, R., Justice, C., MacLeod, R. (2008) Researching a best-practice end-of-life care model for Canada. *Canadian Journal of Aging*. 24(7): 319-330.

Appendix A ~ Agenda

Symptoms and Outcomes Measurement for End of Life Care in Nova Scotia Workshop

Wednesday, February 29, 2012 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Lord Nelson Hotel, Halifax, Nova Scotia

AGENDA

8:00 am – 8:30 am	Registration and Continental Breakfast	
8:30 am – 9:00 am	 Welcome Introductions (<i>Grace Johnston</i>) Purpose of workshop and report¹¹ (<i>Fred Burge</i>) Workshop and Report Process (<i>Stephanie Heath</i>) 	
9:00 am – 9:40 am	Presentation: Planning for Symptom and Outcome Measurement (<i>Grace Johnston</i>)	
9:40 am – 10:10 am	Presentation: Symptoms Measurement - Edmonton Symptom Assessment Scale (ESAS), Distress Thermometer and Symptom Checklist (<i>Janet Howes</i>)	
10:10 am – 10:45 am	Small Group Work: Strengths and Weaknesses of the ESAS in Nova Scotia	
10:45 am – 11:00 am	MORNING BREAK	
11:00 am – 11:30 am	Presentation: Patient Outcomes Scale (POS) (Paul McIntyre and Glenna Thornhill)	
11:30 am – 12:00 pm	Small Group Work: Strengths and Weaknesses of POS in Nova Scotia	
12:00 pm – 1:00 pm	LUNCH BREAK	
1:00 pm – 2:00 pm	 Panel: Alternate Measures and their relationship to ESAS and POS (Chair - Stephanie Heath) Abbey Pain Scale for non-verbal persons including those with Dementia (Elsie Rolls) InterRAI assessment in SEAScape (NS single entry access) for Continuing Care (Joanne Boudreau) Emergency Health Services Extended Care Paramedic Assessment (Jan Jenson) Primary Care (Family Physician, Advanced Practice Nurse) Measures (Fred Burge) 	
2:00 pm – 3:00 pm	Small Group Work: Feedback on the Above Measures	
3:00 pm – 3:15 pm	COFFEE BREAK	
3:15 pm – 4:15 pm	Large Group Work: The Way Forward - What Should Be the Process for Integration and Leadership?	
4:15 pm – 4:30 pm	Wrap Up and Next Steps	
4:30 pm	Adjourn	

¹¹ This workshop is a one step in planning for symptom and outcomes measurement for persons at end of life in Nova Scotia. The NELS ICE research objective is to enable improved population based analyses of care for persons with advanced (life limiting) disease in the future in Nova Scotia using linked electronic health records.

Appendix B – List of Participants

Yukiko Asada Darrell Bardua Joanne Boudreau Michelle Boudreau Fred Burge Loriann Cormier Sandee Crooks Jillian Demons Judith Fisher Gordon Flowerdew **Rick Gibson** David Henderson Tom Henneberry David Hey Katherine Houde Janice Howes Jan Jensen Grace Johnston Farhana Kanth Susan Kirkland **Bev Lawson**

List may be incomplete; some persons arriving without pre-registering may have been missed. List was in part based on persons registered to attend rather than actually attending. Lynn Lethbridge Elaine Loney Todd MacDonald Peter MacDonald Maureen MacIntyre **Carolyn Marshall Emily Marshall Ruth Martin Misener** Paul McIntyre Melanie Parsons-Brown Gredi Patrick Nikki Richards Elsie Rolls Mark Scales **Glenna** Thornhill Andrew Travers Theresa Marie Underhill Robin Urquhart Grace Warner **Arlene Wiggins Tallal Younis** Kathryn Yuill

Appendix C – Outcomes Instruments from Primary Care from Literature Review by Elaine Loney

	GPSC-PSP End of Life Module,	Gold Standards Framework (GSF), United	Other Instruments and	Palliative Care Outcomes
	British Columbia	Kingdom	Examples	Collaboration (PCOC). Australia
			Program/Research Use	
	Practice support module for general	Optimize end of life patient care delivered by		Voluntary national data collection
	practitioners on end of life care.	generalist providers. Supported nationally.		(2, 3) using standardized validated
Program		Primary care, care homes, hospitals.		clinical assessment tools to
Overview	http://www.gpscbc.ca/psp/learning	Emphasizes coordinated anticipatory planning		benchmark and measure outcomes
		and care. Current focus on increasing		in palliativo caro
	Training & resources to:	consistency, effectiveness, equity for non		in panative care.
		cancer patients, and integrated quality		Participation open to all palliative
	 Help general practice 	improvement. Access to all tools listed below		sore convices providers from public
	physician learn identify	except After Death Audit Tool:		care services providers from public
	patients who could benefit	http://www.goldstandardsframework.org.uk/		and private health sectors; rural
	from a palliative approach	http://www.goldstandardsframework.org.uk/T		and metropolitan areas and
	to care	heGSFToolkit/ToolsandTemplates		inpatient and ambulatory settings.
	2) Increase confidence and	Primary Care (1):		
	communication skills to	5 Goals: 1. Consistent high quality care, 2.		All tools listed below available on
	enable Advance Care	Alignment with patients' preferences, 3. Pre-		website .
	Planning (ACP)	planning and anticipation of needs, 4. Improved		
	conversations;	staff confidence and teamwork, 5. More home		http://www.pcoc.org.au/
	3) Improve collaboration with	based, less hospital based care		
	palliative care and non-	3 Steps: 1. Identify, 2. Assess, 3. Plan		
	palliative specialist services,	7 Key tasks: 1. Communication, 2.		
	patients, families and	Coordination, 3. Control of symptoms, 4.		
	caregivers.	Continuity out of hours, 5.Continual learning, 6.		
		Carer Support, 7. Care in dying phase.		
		GSF Foundation Level		
	Paid learning sessions followed by a	Identification – Prognostic Guidance		
	6-8 week action period to try	and Needs-based coding and use of		
	practice change with visits from	Needs Support Matrices		
	Practice Support Team members,	GSF Higher Level		
	including GP and MOA "champions."	Advance Care Planning discussions		
		Cross boundary care & communication		
		- GSF care homes and hospitals - Home		
		Packs, 'passport information' key		
		worker for patient.		

	Перотеота	symptoms and outcomes measurement for End of		
Identifica-	Most tools available on website.	 Anticipatory prescribing & Just in Case Boxes Audit using ADA audit tool. Significant Event Analysis with action plan. Carer enablement, information & support Admission avoidance in final stage. GSF Advanced level Measures of consistency, effectiveness, non cancer equity, use of some Next Stage GSF Additional tools & developments. Accreditation. GSF Prognostic Indicator Guidance (4)(Sept. 	SPARRA data (Scotland)	
	(4)(Sopt 2011) Sop CSE	2011) Components: 1) surprise question 2)	identifies natients at risk of	
tion of	(4)(36)(1.2011). 366 035.	general indicators of decline and increased	admission/ readmission based	
patients		needs. 3) specific clinical indicators for cancer.	on 3 years previous hospital	
near end		organ failure and frailty / dementia.	data. Data routinely provided	
of life	Patient Registry		to general practices in	
		Patient Registry (incl. summary of problems, anticipated needs, preferred place of care, out of hours hand over form sent, bereavement care, etc.)	Scotland. In a pilot program data triggered proactive coordinated care planning that included advance care planning.(5, 6)	
Symptom	Edmonton Symptom Assessment	1. PACA Score (4 patient symptoms plus	1. Palliative Care Outcome	Symptom Assessment Scale (SAS)
assess-	Scale-revised (ESAS-r) (7-11) Patient	patient's & carer's open	Scale-Symptoms.(16-18)	(19, 20) Similar to ESAS-r; patient
mont	reported.	problems/concerns. Referral criteria.)	Patient reported. Versions:	reported. Unlike ESAS /ESAS-r, it
ment		2. Pepsi-Cola Aide Memoire monthly	Generic (POS-S), Parkinson's	does not contain an emotional
	BC Guidelines: Frailty in Older	checklist (multidomain)	Disease (POS-PD), Renal (POS-	assessment item unless specified
	Adults – Early Identification and	3. Initial Pain Assessment. Uses 0-3 pain	R) & Multiple Sclerosis (POS-	by patient as "athen problem "
	Management Includes:	scale (3= most severe).	MS) . <u>http://pos-</u>	by patient as other problem.
		4. Abbey Pain Scale(13-15) for people	pal.org/index.php	
	* CSHA Frailty Severity Index	with dementia.	2. Edmonton Comfort	
	(12)(validated):	http://www.dementiacareaustralia.co	Assessment Form (Caregiver	
		m/index.php/library/abbey-pain-	& nealth professional	
	*Seniors Assessment Tool (Patient	<u>scale.html</u>	reported; for patients	
	reported on GPSC-PSP website		Incapable of completing	
			ESASJ. AN Older tool, not	
			currently available on the	

Report of Symptoms and Outcomes Measurement for End of Life Care in Nova Scotia, 2012

	unknown validation)		Edmonton program website.	
Functional Assess- ment	1. Palliative Performance Scale PPSv.2 (21-26). Included in algorithm and data collection. V.2Minor changes in punctuation and instructions did not require revalidation. Developed by Victoria Hospice: <u>http://www.victoriahospice.org/heal</u> <u>th-professionals/clinical-tools</u> 2. Clinical criteria for Patient Identification includes assessment with Barthel Index,(27) Karnofsky Performance Scale (KPS) (28-30) or Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status (ECOG) (31) tools.	Clinical criteria for patient identification includes functional assessment using Barthe l Index (27), KPS , (28-30), ECOG (31) or PULSE screening)	 1. PPSv.2 (32) w ill be used in ICCP impact assessment. PPS used for all ambulatory cancer patients. 2. Karnofsky Performance Scale (28, 29) used in Edmonton Regional Palliative Care Program. Original version available: at http://www.palliative.org/PC/ ClinicalInfo/AssessmentTools/ AssessmentToolsIDX.html 	 Karnofsky (Australian) Performance Scale. (29, 33) KPS modified for community use. Resource Utilization Group – ADL (RUGS-ADL) (case mix/staffing application,(34) referral trigger for care placement, OT assessment). Embedded in InterRAI instruments. Additional info: http://www.interrai.org/section/vi ew/?fnode=28
Multiple Domain		 PACA score. (Problems and Concerns Assessment). Patient and caregiver sections; to cover physical, social, psychological and spiritual issues. Used to trigger referral. PEPSI-COLA aide Memoire Monthly checklist. (Physical, Emotional, Personal (spiritual, caregiver agenda, etc.), Social support, Information / communication, Control (choice, advance directive, etc.), Out of hours/emergency, Late (terminal care), Afterwards (bereavement) 	1. Palliative Outcome Scale (POS).(16-18) Patient, caregiver, staff questionnaires & scoring sheets. Complementary POS Symptom Scales. V.2 designed for nonspecialist setting use. [Nomenclature note: V.2 questionnaires re- titled "Patient outcome scale"; scoring sheets retain "palliative outcome scale" title. V.1 for specialist settings retains "Palliative outcome scale" title. Complementary symptom scales (POS-S, POS-R, POS- MD, POS-PD) use original 'Palliative Outcome Scale' title.]	Palliative Care Problem Severity Score (43, 44) Domains: Pain, symptom, psychological, spiritual, caregiver. Problem lists in each domain. Referral trigger for SW, Psychological, Spiritual care.

			2. InterRAI-Palliative Care	
			(InterRAi-PC). (35, 36) Will be	
			used in ICCP impact	
			assessment. Used by CCAC	
			case managers. Additional	
			info: <u>http://www.interrai.org/s</u>	
			ection/view/?fnode=18	
			3. Functional Assessment of	
			Chronic Illness Therapy-	
			Palliative Care (FACIT –Pal)	
			(37-39) Patient reported	
			measure. Physical,	
			social/family, emotional, &	
			functional well-being	
			subscales (27 items) plus 19	
			items of additional palliative	
			related concerns. (3 pages	
			long). Used in ENABLEII	
			RCT.(40, 41)	
			Functional Assessment	
			Cancer Treatment –Lung	
			(FACT-L) FACT-C (cancer) used	
			by Temel et al. (42).	
			There are 50+ FACT/FACIT	
			scales for cancer and non	
			cancer. Access at:	
			http://www.facit.org/FACITOrg	
Psycholog-	Item in ESAS-r.	Prompt in PEPSI-COLA.	1. Distress Thermometer (45)	In SAS only if specified by patient.
ical/			used in shared care model,	
Distross			Niagara.(46)	Psychological/Spiritual Problem list
Distress			2. Canadian Problem	in Problem Severity Score.
			Checklist.(47) Recommended	
			Canadian Partnership Against	
			Cancer (2009) to be used with	
			ESAS as part of minimum data	
			set for screening for distress.	

Report of Symptoms and Outcomes Measurement for End of Life Care in Nova Scotia, 2012

Spiritual	?	Prompt in PEPSI-COLA.	Recommended tools listed in	Psychological/Spiritual Problem list
			reviews by Hanson et al. (48)	in Problem Severity Score.
			and Selman et al.(49)	
Advance	Support tools: "Discussing Goals of	'Thinking Ahead: Advance Care Planning Tool".	SPARRA data patient	
Care	Care " to aid physician in discussion.	Guides and documents discussion of what	identification trigger for	
Planning	Use of My Voice (50) patient	patient wishes to happen (separate from	proactive planning &	
	resource.	advance care directive. do not resuscitate	coordination that includes	
(ACP)		order)	ACP and communication of	
	Measures: Documentation of		directives among	
	provision of "My Voice" workbook,		providers/care sites. (5, 6)	
	advance directive		wayo Clinic primary care	
	completion/greensleeve and No CPR		advance medical directives	
	form completion on care plan		(AMD) in EPR Lised EPR data	
	torm completion on care plan		to identify patients 60+	
	template and in monthly reporting.		without AMD provide info	
			before health maintenance	
			visit, and EPR prompt for	
			discussion at time of	
			encounter.(51)	
			Patient/Caregiver satisfaction	
			instruments include questions	
			on discussions about wishes	
			for future care and	
			consistency of care with	
			patient wishes. (52-54)	
			CANHELP(52) does not	
			specifically inquire about	
			signed directives.	
			resource similar to My Voice	
			used in BC	

Diamating 0	Clinical Tables		Needs Assessment Tools	
Planning &			Needs Assessment Tool:	
Coordina-	1 Come along to any late in al		Progressive Disease – Cancer	
tion	1. Care plan template Incl.		(NAT: PD-C). (56, 57) and	
	care planning		Needs Assessment Tool:	
	documentation		Progressive Disease (NAT:	
	2. MOA checklist incl. care		PD) Australia. Multiple	
	planning documentation		purposes: needs assessment	
	3. Care Team communication		(multiple domains), matching	
	record		needs & services, referral;	
			records level of concern &	
			action taken, discharge	
			planning, communication	
			between generalists &	
			specialists. NAT-PD can be	
			used for cancer patients.(58)	
Caregivers	Survey question. See "Retrospective"	Caregiver problems/concern are considered in	Search for tools beyond scope	Included in Problem Severity
Ū	below.	PACA Score and PEPSI-COLA monthly report	of assigned task.	Score.
		(under "Personal")	Hanson et al. (48) and Hudson	
			et al. (59)provide reviews.	
Satisfac-	Survey question on Patient/Family		1 CanHELP (natient &	
Satistat-	some for the with and of life some plan		caregiver versions) (52, 60)	
tion with	comfort with end of life care plan		Pocontly used by Staidubar	
Care	Suman question en Constituer		(unpublished) Access:	
	Survey question on Caregiver		http://www.thocoropot.co/	
	support		2 Eamily Satisfaction with	
			2. Failing Satisfaction with	
			Advanced Cancer Care	
			(FAIVICARE)(01-07) Identified	
			as a higher scoring tool. (48)	
			Integration Project evaluation	
			S.E. Ontario.(68)	
			Access original version:	
			<u>nttp://www.promotingexcelle</u>	
			nce.org/tools/pe1154.html	
			After Death Bereaved Family	
			Wember Interview.(54)	
			Modified by Burge et al. for	
			NS use.	

.			,	
Retrospect	Self-audit Palliative Approach	After Death Audit Tool. Online voluntary tool		PCOC reports.
ive,	(compare care of randomly selected	based on GSF levels and NHS quality markers.		
Dractico	patients with chronic illness with	Individual practice reports with comparison to		
Practice	recommended approaches)	benchmarks; comparisons over time (e.g. after		
level	Self-audit Patient Death (2 patients,	intervention /practice change). Data collected:		
	non cancer diagnoses)	Demographics: diagnosis, gender, preferred		
	Practice Support End of Life Team	place of care, actual place of death		
	Monthly Reporting Tool (Excel)	-Information on communication and		
	Process measures:	coordination of care, including services used -		
	*# patients identified & in registry	-Care planning, symptom control assessment,		
	*# pts. on registry with ESAS/PPS	continuity of care, out of hours		
	recorded	-Carer support and care in the dying phase		
	*# pts. on registry with ACP	-Number of crisis admissions, hospital bed		
	discussion and provided with ACP	days, reasons for not achieving preferred place		
	tool	of care		
	*# pts. on registry with collaborative	-Reflective practice section.		
	care plan	Data source for UK 2009 "National Snapshot".		
	Optional: # physicians very confident	(69)		
	initiating EoL care discussion; 2	After Death Audit Tool not freely available on		
	survey questions: patient/caregiver	GSF website.		
	comfort with end of life plan and			
	caregiver perception they are/were			
	supported caring for pt./family			
	member			

REFERENCES:

1. Gold Standards Framework. GSF Primary Care Briefing Paper. Available from: <u>http://www.goldstandardsframework.org.uk/Resources/Gold Standards</u> <u>Framework/PDF Documents/GSF PC Briefing Paper.pdf</u>.

2. Currow DC, Eagar K, Aoun S, Fildes D, Yates P, Kristjanson LJ. Is it feasible and desirable to collect voluntarily quality and outcome data nationally in palliative oncology care? Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2008;26(23):3853-9. Epub 2008/08/09.

3. Eagar K, Watters P, Currow DC, Aoun SM, Yates P. The Australian Palliative Care Outcomes Collaboration (PCOC)--measuring the quality and outcomes of palliative care on a routine basis. Australian health review : a publication of the Australian Hospital Association. 2010;34(2):186-92. Epub 2010/05/26.

4. Gold Standards Framework. Prognostic Indicator Guidance 4th edition 2011 [cited 2011 November 25]; Available from:

http://www.goldstandardsframework.org.uk/TheGSFToolkit/ToolsandTemplates.

5. SPARRA Made Easy. Government of Scotland; 2010 [cited 2012 Feb. 3]; Available from: http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/04/13104303/1.

6. Baker A, Leak P, Ritchie LD, Lee AJ, Fielding S. Anticipatory care planning and integration: a primary care pilot study aimed at reducing unplanned hospitalisation. Br J Gen Pract. 2012;62(595):e113-e9.

7. Bruera E, Kuehn N, Miller MJ, Selmser P, Macmillan K. The Edmonton Symptom Assessment System (ESAS): a simple method for the assessment of palliative care patients. Journal of palliative care. 1991;7(2):6-9. Epub 1991/01/01.

8. Nekolaichuk C, Watanabe S, Beaumont C. The Edmonton Symptom Assessment System: a 15-year retrospective review of validation studies (1991--2006). Palliative medicine. 2008;22(2):111-22. Epub 2008/03/29.

9. Richardson LA, Jones GW. A review of the reliability and validity of the Edmonton Symptom Assessment System. Curr Oncol. 2009;16(1):55. Epub 2009/02/21.

10. Watanabe SM, Nekolaichuk C, Beaumont C, Johnson L, Myers J, Strasser F. A multicenter study comparing two numerical versions of the Edmonton Symptom Assessment System in palliative care patients. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2011;41(2):456-68. Epub 2010/09/14.

11. Watanabe SM, Nekolaichuk CL, Beaumont C. The Edmonton Symptom Assessment System, a proposed tool for distress screening in cancer patients: development and refinement. Psycho-oncology. 2011. Epub 2011/06/15.

12. Rockwood K, Song X, MacKnight C, Bergman H, Hogan DB, McDowell I, et al. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne. 2005;173(5):489-95. Epub 2005/09/01.

13. Abbey J, Piller N, De Bellis A, Esterman A, Parker D, Giles L, et al. The Abbey pain scale: a 1-minute numerical indicator for people with end-stage dementia. International journal of palliative nursing. 2004;10(1):6-13. Epub 2004/02/18.

14. Liu JY, Briggs M, Closs SJ. The psychometric qualities of four observational pain tools (OPTs) for the assessment of pain in elderly people with osteoarthritic pain. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2010;40(4):582-98. Epub 2010/08/10.

15. Lord B. Paramedic assessment of pain in the cognitively impaired adult patient. BMC emergency medicine. 2009;9:20. Epub 2009/10/08.

16. Bausewein C, Daveson B, Benalia H, Simon ST, Higginson IJ. Outcome Measurement in Palliative Care The Essentials. European Association for Palliative Care; 2011 [cited 2012 January 9]; Available from:

<u>http://www.eapcnet.eu/Themes/Clinicalcare/Outcomemeasurement/Publicationsdocuments/tabid/1577/ctl/Details/ArticleID/277/mid/2998/Outcome-Measurement-in-Palliative-Care-The-Essentials.aspx.</u>

17. Bausewein C, Le Grice C, Simon S, Higginson I. The use of two common palliative outcome measures in clinical care and research: a systematic review of POS and STAS. Palliative medicine. 2011;25(4):304-13. Epub 2011/04/06.

18. Hearn J, Higginson IJ. Development and validation of a core outcome measure for palliative care: the palliative care outcome scale. Palliative Care Core Audit Project Advisory Group. Quality in health care : QHC. 1999;8(4):219-27. Epub 2000/06/10.

19. Aoun SM, Monterosso L, Kristjanson LJ, McConigley R. Measuring symptom distress in palliative care: psychometric properties of the Symptom Assessment Scale (SAS). Journal of palliative medicine. 2011;14(3):315-21. Epub 2011/01/25.

20. Kristjanson LJ, Pickstock S, Yuen K, Davis S, Blight J, Cummins A, et al. Development and Testing of the Revised Symptom Assessment Scale (SAS): Final Report. Perth, Australia: Edith Cowan University, 1999.

21. Anderson F, Downing GM, Hill J, Casorso L, Lerch N. Palliative performance scale (PPS): a new tool. Journal of palliative care. 1996;12(1):5-11. Epub 1996/01/01.

22. Harrold J, Rickerson E, Carroll JT, McGrath J, Morales K, Kapo J, et al. Is the palliative performance scale a useful predictor of mortality in a heterogeneous hospice population? Journal of palliative medicine. 2005;8(3):503-9. Epub 2005/07/05.

23. Ho F, Lau F, Downing MG, Lesperance M. A reliability and validity study of the Palliative Performance Scale. BMC palliative care. 2008;7:10. Epub 2008/08/06.

24. Lau F, Downing M, Lesperance M, Karlson N, Kuziemsky C, Yang J. Using the Palliative Performance Scale to provide meaningful survival estimates. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2009;38(1):134-44. Epub 2009/01/28.

25. Lau F, Maida V, Downing M, Lesperance M, Karlson N, Kuziemsky C. Use of the Palliative Performance Scale (PPS) for end-of-life prognostication in a palliative medicine consultation service. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2009;37(6):965-72. Epub 2009/02/24.

26. Weng LC, Huang HL, Wilkie DJ, Hoenig NA, Suarez ML, Marschke M, et al. Predicting survival with the Palliative Performance Scale in a minority-serving hospice and palliative care program. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2009;37(4):642-8. Epub 2008/10/01.

27. Mahoney FI, Barthel DW. Functional Evaluation: The Barthel Index. Maryland state medical journal. 1965;14:61-5. Epub 1965/02/01.

28. Crooks V, Waller S, Smith T, Hahn TJ. The use of the Karnofsky Performance Scale in determining outcomes and risk in geriatric outpatients. Journal of gerontology. 1991;46(4):M139-44. Epub 1991/07/01.

29. Grbich C, Maddocks I, Parker D, Brown M, Willis E, Piller N, et al. Identification of patients with noncancer diseases for palliative care services. Palliative & supportive care. 2005;3(1):5-14. Epub 2006/04/06.

30. Zimmermann C, Burman D, Bandukwala S, Seccareccia D, Kaya E, Bryson J, et al. Nurse and physician inter-rater agreement of three performance status measures in palliative care outpatients. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2010;18(5):609-16. Epub 2009/07/25.

31. Oken MM, Creech RH, Tormey DC, Horton J, Davis TE, McFadden ET, et al. Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. American journal of clinical oncology. 1982;5(6):649-55. Epub 1982/12/01.

32. Victoria Hospice Society. Palliative Performance Scale (PPSv.2) version 2. Victoria, B.C.: Victoria Hospice Society; 2006; 4th:[120]. Available from: http://www.victoriahospice.org/health-professionals/clinical-tools.

33. Abernethy AP, Shelby-James T, Fazekas BS, Woods D, Currow DC. The Australia-modified Karnofsky Performance Status (AKPS) scale: a revised scale for contemporary palliative care clinical practice [ISRCTN81117481]. BMC palliative care. 2005;4:7. Epub 2005/11/15.

34. Fries BE, Schneider DP, Foley WJ, Gavazzi M, Burke R, Cornelius E. Refining a case-mix measure for nursing homes: Resource Utilization Groups (RUG-III). Medical care. 1994;32(7):668-85. Epub 1994/07/01.

35. Brink P, Frise Smith T. Determinants of home death in palliative home care: using the interRAI palliative care to assess end-of-life care. The American journal of hospice & palliative care. 2008;25(4):263-70. Epub 2008/06/14.

36. Steel K, Ljunggren G, Topinkova E, Morris JN, Vitale C, Parzuchowski J, et al. The RAI-PC: an assessment instrument for palliative care in all settings. The American journal of hospice & palliative care. 2003;20(3):211-9. Epub 2003/06/06.

37. Cella DF, Tulsky DS, Gray G, Sarafian B, Linn E, Bonomi A, et al. The Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy scale: development and validation of the general measure. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 1993;11(3):570-9. Epub 1993/03/01.

38. Lien K, Zeng L, Nguyen J, Cramarossa G, Culleton S, Caissie A, et al. Comparison of the EORTC QLQ-C15-PAL and the FACIT-Pal for assessment of quality of life in patients with advanced cancer. Expert review of pharmacoeconomics & outcomes research. 2011;11(5):541-7. Epub 2011/10/01.

39. Lyons KD, Bakitas M, Hegel MT, Hanscom B, Hull J, Ahles TA. Reliability and validity of the Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy-Palliative care (FACIT-Pal) scale. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2009;37(1):23-32. Epub 2008/05/28.

40. Bakitas M, Bishop MF, Caron P, Stephens L. Developing successful models of cancer palliative care services. Seminars in oncology nursing. 2010;26(4):266-84. Epub 2010/10/26.

41. Bakitas M, Lyons KD, Hegel MT, Balan S, Barnett KN, Brokaw FC, et al. The project ENABLE II randomized controlled trial to improve palliative care for rural patients with advanced cancer: baseline findings, methodological challenges, and solutions. Palliative & supportive care. 2009;7(1):75-86. Epub 2009/07/22.

42. Temel JS, Greer JA, Muzikansky A, Gallagher ER, Admane S, Jackson VA, et al. Early palliative care for patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. The New England journal of medicine. 2010;363(8):733-42. Epub 2010/09/08.

Eagar K, Gordon R, Green J, Smith M. An Australian casemix classification for palliative care: lessons and policy implications of a national study. Palliative 43. medicine. 2004;18(3):227-33. Epub 2004/06/17.

Eagar K, Green J, Gordon R. An Australian casemix classification for palliative care: technical development and results. Palliative medicine. 44. 2004;18(3):217-26. Epub 2004/06/17.

45. National Comprehensive Cancer Network. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology Distress Management. National Comprehensive Cancer Network; 2012; Version 1.2012: [Available from: http://www.nccn.org/.

Marshall D, Howell D, Brazil K, Howard M, Taniguchi A. Enhancing family physician capacity to deliver quality palliative home care: an end-of-life, shared-46. care model. Can Fam Physician. 2008;54(12):1703- e7. Epub 2008/12/17.

47. Cancer Journey Action Group. Guideline to Implementing Screening for Distress, the 6th Vital Sign Moving Towards Person-Centered Care Part A: Background, Recommendations, and Implementation. Canadian Partnership Against Cancer; 2009 [cited 2012 Feb. 2]; May 21, 2009; working copy:[Available from: http://www.partnershipagainstcancer.ca/wp-content/uploads/2.4.0.1.4.5-Guide CJAG.pdf.

Hanson LC, Scheunemann LP, Zimmerman S, Rokoske FS, Schenck AP. The PEACE project review of clinical instruments for hospice and palliative care. 48. Journal of palliative medicine. 2010;13(10):1253-60. Epub 2010/09/30.

Selman L, Siegert R, Harding R, Gysels M, Speck P, Higginson IJ. A psychometric evaluation of measures of spirituality validated in culturally diverse 49. palliative care populations. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2011;42(4):604-22. Epub 2011/06/07.

Fraser Valley Health Authority. My Voice Advance Care Plan. 2011 [cited 2012 Feb. 8]; Available from: 50.

http://www.fraserhealth.ca/media/MyVoiceWorkbookENGv2.pdf.

51. Tung EE, Vickers KS, Lackore K, Cabanela R, Hathaway J, Chaudhry R. Clinical decision support technology to increase advance care planning in the primary care setting. The American journal of hospice & palliative care. 2011;28(4):230-5. Epub 2010/11/09.

Heyland DK, Cook DJ, Rocker GM, Dodek PM, Kutsogiannis DJ, Skrobik Y, et al. The development and validation of a novel questionnaire to measure 52. patient and family satisfaction with end-of-life care: the Canadian Health Care Evaluation Project (CANHELP) Questionnaire. Palliative medicine. 2010;24(7):682-95. Epub 2010/07/08.

Teno J. Toolkit of Instruments to Measure End of Life Care. Brown University: Centre for Gerontology and Health Care Research; 2004 [updated Feb. 17, 53. 2004; cited 2012 Feb. 1]; Available from: http://www.chcr.brown.edu/pcoc/toolkit.htm.

Teno JM, Clarridge BR, Casey V, Welch LC, Wetle T, Shield R, et al. Family perspectives on end-of-life care at the last place of care. JAMA : the journal of 54. the American Medical Association. 2004;291(1):88-93. Epub 2004/01/08.

Canadian Hospice Palliative Care Association. Speak Up Advance Care Planning Workbook. Canadian Hospice Palliative Care Association; 2011 [cited 55. 2011 Dec. 5]; Available from: http://www.advancecareplanning.ca/media/31880/acp workbook final-bw-web.pdf.

Waller A, Girgis A, Lecathelinais C, Scott W, Foot L, Sibbritt D, et al. Validity, reliability and clinical feasibility of a Needs Assessment Tool for people with 56. progressive cancer. Psycho-oncology. 2010;19(7):726-33. Epub 2009/09/25.

57. Centre for Health Research and Psycho-oncology. Needs Assessment Tool: Progessive Disease - Cancer (NAT: PD-C) User Guide. Palliative Care Council of South Australia Inc.; 2009 [cited 2012 Feb. 9]; Available from: <u>http://www.pallcare.asn.au/info_professional.php</u>.

58. Centre for Health Research and Psycho-oncology. Needs Assessment Tool: Progessive Disease (NAT: PD) User Guide. Palliative Care Council of South Australia Inc.; 2010 [cited 2012 Feb. 9]; Available from: <u>http://www.pallcare.asn.au/info_professional.php</u>.

59. Hudson PL, Trauer T, Graham S, Grande G, Ewing G, Payne S, et al. A systematic review of instruments related to family caregivers of palliative care patients. Palliative medicine. 2010;24(7):656-68. Epub 2010/07/08.

60. Heyland DK, Cook DJ, Rocker GM, Dodek PM, Kutsogiannis DJ, Skrobik Y, et al. Defining priorities for improving end-of-life care in Canada. CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne. 2010;182(16):E747-52. Epub 2010/10/06.

61. Aoun S, Bird S, Kristjanson LJ, Currow D. Reliability testing of the FAMCARE-2 scale: measuring family carer satisfaction with palliative care. Palliative medicine. 2010;24(7):674-81. Epub 2010/07/14.

62. Carter GL, Lewin TJ, Gianacas L, Clover K, Adams C. Caregiver satisfaction with out-patient oncology services: utility of the FAMCARE instrument and development of the FAMCARE-6. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2011;19(4):565-72. Epub 2010/03/30.

63. Kristjanson LJ. Validity and reliability testing of the FAMCARE Scale: measuring family satisfaction with advanced cancer care. Soc Sci Med. 1993;36(5):693-701. Epub 1993/03/01.

64. Kristjanson LJ, Leis A, Koop PM, Carriere KC, Mueller B. Family members' care expectations, care perceptions, and satisfaction with advanced cancer care: results of a multi-site pilot study. Journal of palliative care. 1997;13(4):5-13. Epub 1997/01/01.

65. Lo C, Burman D, Hales S, Swami N, Rodin G, Zimmermann C. The FAMCARE-Patient scale: measuring satisfaction with care of outpatients with advanced cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45(18):3182-8. Epub 2009/09/30.

66. Lo C, Burman D, Rodin G, Zimmermann C. Measuring patient satisfaction in oncology palliative care: psychometric properties of the FAMCARE-patient scale. Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation. 2009;18(6):747-52. Epub 2009/06/11.

67. Ringdal GI, Jordhoy MS, Kaasa S. Measuring quality of palliative care: psychometric properties of the FAMCARE Scale. Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation. 2003;12(2):167-76. Epub 2003/03/18.

68. Dudgeon DJ, Knott C, Eichholz M, Gerlach JL, Chapman C, Viola R, et al. Palliative Care Integration Project (PCIP) quality improvement strategy evaluation. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2008;35(6):573-82. Epub 2008/03/25.

69. Omega the National Association for End of Life Care. End of life in primary care 2009 National snapshot. 2009; Available from: http://www.omega.uk.net/admin/uploads/file/National snapshot of end of life care - key findings.pdf.





Appendix E – Planning for Symptom and Outcome Measurement in the Provision of Palliative and End of Life Care in Nova Scotia (abridged)















Norkshop Premise	Outcomes
	Improve
	 pain and symptom control for all persons at end of life
"You can't	 community and professional understanding and support
managa what	 coordinated 24/7 care for all persons at end of life
manage what	 satisfaction with care and control of family and provider distress
you can't measure."	 assurance of quality, timely and cost-effective care
	Decrease
Peter F Drucker	 delay in commencement of a palliative approach
	 multiple assessments, referrals and transfers
	 ineffective use of hospital beds, emergency department and diagnostic testing
	What else?



Appendix F- Edmonton Symptom Assessment System (ESAS), Canadian Problem Checklist, and Distress Thermometer for Cancer Patients



When cancer strikes it has the potential to create needs in various areas. No two individuals will have exactly the same needs. Needs arise in relation to a number of factors such as the type of cancer, extent of the disease, resources available to the person, his or her age, etc.

Screening for Distress versus Assessment Screening: Rapid identification of patient's key concerns, and allows health care professionals to identify the need to conduct further assessment and/or refer to specialist. Assessment: A more thorough, in-depth examination of the patient's concerns that is conducted after screening. CIAG, Canadian Partnership Against Cancer	 Why Screen and Manage Distress? Heightened Distress often goes unrecognized. Heightened Distress is associated with a number of negative outcomes. Heightened Distress is treatable. Improve the patient's experience and quality of life.
 Heightened distress is associated with a number of negative outcomes. Lower Quality of Life Increased Difficulty Coping Poorer Adherence to Medical Treatment Lower Satisfaction with Health Care Relationship Between Greater Depression and Poorer Survival Increased Health Care Costs 	Screening Domains • Physical • Practical • Psychosocial
Screening for Distress Tool: Nova Scotia • Canadian Problem Checklist: 24 items • Three Items added • Relationship Difficulties (social/family) • Medication Coverage (Practical) • Swallowing (Physical) • Edmonton Symptom Assessment System • Distress Thermometer (NCCN, 2003)	Image: Sector
 Standard Approach to Screening for Distress and Management: Patient Completes Screening Tool HCP has Therapeutic Conversation with patient "What concern is bothering you the most today?" Use Two Referral Pathways from the Best Practice Guidelines for the Management of Cancer-Related Distress in Adults (CCNS, In final Preparation) to help manage distress. HCP completes Distress Management Summary Sheet 	Levels of Distress Mild Distress Moderate Distress Distress Thermometer or ESAS score ≥ 4 to 7 High Distress Distress Thermometer or ESAS score ≥ to 8
Variation of the state of t	Palliative Cancer Patients Experience a range of symptoms as disease progresses: • Pain • Anorexia • Nausea • Asthenia • Dyspnea • Delirium • Psychological Distress (Depression, Anxiety, Worry, Grief) • Practical Concerns/Worries

Advanced Cancer • Emotional Distress is common among patients with advanced cancer • 50% (or more) of patients with advanced cancer meet diagnostic criteria for: • Adjustment Disorders: 11% - 35% • Major Depression: 5% - 26% • Anxiety Disorders: 2% - 14% (Miovic & Block, 2007)	 Subsyndromal Symptoms are displayed by many patients: Anxiety symptoms in 25% - 48% of cancer patients. Post-Traumatic Stress Features occur in 20% - 80% of cancer patients. (Miovic & Block, 2007)
 Depression is a major risk factor for desire to hasten death. Many terminally ill patients (up to 59%), who request assisted suicide are depressed. (Miovic & Block, 2007; Emanuel et al., 2000) 	 Edmonton Symptom Assessment System Developed as a brief, clinically useful tool for self-reporting symptom intensity by advanced cancer patients. Designed for repeated measurement of symptom intensity with low patient burden. Used by Palliative Care Programs across Canada, and also internationally. (Nekolaichuk et al., 2008)
Edmonton Symptom Assessment System (ESAS) • Original version: eight symptoms using visual analogue scales (Bruera et al., 1991) • 9 th symptom (shortness of breath) added and option of rating a 10 th symptom. (Bruera et al., 1991) • More recent version: 11-point numerical rating scale for each symptom (higher scores indicate worse symptom intensity). • ESAS format varies across clinics and studies. (Nekolaichuk et al., 2008)	 Patients may experience difficulties in scoring and interpretation of the ESAS items which could potentially lead to suboptimal treatment. Bergh et al. (2011) recommend that the ESAS should always be reviewed with the patient after completion to improve symptom management.
 ESAS and ESAS-r Watanabe et al. (2011) compared 2 numerical versions of the ESAS. Most patients rated both versions very easy or easy to understand and complete. The ESAS-r was significantly easier to understand, and more patients preferred it (due to its clarity, definitions, and format). 	
Image: space of the space o	Distress Thermometer



 Healthcare Professional Survey The majority of respondents noted: Screening for Distress Tool is helpful in identifying patient concerns. Comfortable discussing Distress Responses with Patients. Think Screening for Distress leads to better person-centred care. 	Time to Respond to Screen Per PatientDoes not increase face-to-face time14%Does increase face-to-face time by:11 - 2 Minutes0%3 - 5 Minutes5%5 - 10 Minutes14%10 - 15 Minutes43%More than 15 Minutes24%
Therapeutic Conversations Yes Unsure No Screening for Distress Changed Conversations with 71% 14% 14% Patients (N=21) 71% 14% 14% Conversations are: More Meaningful 1 55% More Supportive 1 61% More Focused 1 83% More Wholistic 1 44% 1 Rest responded Neutral (N=18)	Comprehensive Assessment: Capital Health Integrated Palliative Care Service. • Using the ESAS • Collecting Assessment Information Consistent with the Domains Covered on Screening Tool • Screening Can Facilitate the Assessment
Other Chronic Illness Groups in Nova Scotia are interested in the Self-Report Symptom Tools we are using to screen Cancer patients	Summary Symptom Measures can be useful in identifying concerns throughout the illness continuum. Can be used as screen and can facilitate assessment. Helpful in managing patient distress and providing improved patient-centred care.

Appendix G – Patient (or Palliative) Outcome Scale

" Wow Me with Data "	 " Know which abnormality you are going to follow during treatment. Pick something you can measure." Meador, A Little Book of Doctors' Rules.
"Standards are not neutral They are as much about power and control as they are about 'best practice'. For every standard adopted, something else shifts in the system – and it's usually something we have neither predicted nor sought to measure. These issues are complex and subtle. It is small wonder that trials with deterministic designs and predefined outcome measures fail to capture them. Trish Greenlagh, British Medical Journal 2009	" Box-ticking has often improved the care I provide my patients despite my assumption that my practice is already evidence-based. " Trish Greenlagh, British Medical Journal 2009
Outcome " any end result attributable to health services intervention " Measure should be clinically relevant, practical, valid, reliable, able to show change over time.	Implementing patient reported outcome measures (PROMs) in palliative care - users' cry for help. Bausewein Health Qual Life Outcomes 2011



"engagement by both patient and clinician in endlessly adaptive work of dealing with illness ... attention to here and now contextual detail is crucial. An excessive focus on standards reinforces the erroneous notion that the quality benchmark can be wholly established and expressed in the language of decision science."

"Box-ticking has often improved the care I provide my patients despite my assumption that my practice is already evidence-based." Trish Greenlagh, British Medical Journal 2009



"Being able to sit together and listen to meaningful music together allowed Mom and (our) family to express and feel pain and happiness and sadness without having to struggle to put it into words."

"create an environment of watchful concern that motivates everyone to reflect on how best to serve the community"

Appendix H – Abbey Pain Scale





Appendix I – InterRAI Home Care (HC) Assessment in SEAscape

interRAI Assessment in SEAscape Symptoms and Outcomes Measurement for End of Life Care in Nova Scotia Workshop February 29, 2012 Present by	SEAscape • Continuing Care Electronic System • Supports Single Entry Access process • Clients – – Home Care – Long Term Care – Adult Protection • RALHC Assessment
Joanne Boudreau, SEAscape Manager Continuing Care Branch Health and Weimess	Health and Wellness
interRAI • Researchers in over 30 countries • Promote evidence based clinical practice and policy • Common language in suite of 15 assessments • Assessments designed to work together • Each question has an intent and definition	 interRAI Suite of Assessments Home Care Palliative Care Community Health Wellness Assisted Living Long Term Care Post Acute Care Acute Mental Health Self-Report Quality of Life
 RAI-HC Assessment Designed to inform and guide care planning in the current home care environment Highlights function and quality of life 	Domains- RAI-HC Assessment Cognitive Patterns Vision Patterns Mood and Behavior
 19 Domains Assessor asks client and caregiver questions Assessment completed on laptop in client's home Assessor is Health Care Professional 	 Social Functioning Informal Support Services Physical Function Continence
 19 Domains Assessor asks client and caregiver questions Assessment completed on laptop in client's home Assessor is Health Care Professional Medition Wellings NOVASCOTIA Domains RAI-HC continued Disease Diagnosis Health Conditions and Preventive Health Measures Nutrition/Hydration Status Dental Status Skin Condition Environment Assessment 	 Social Functioning Informal Support Services Physical Function Continence Nov/SCOTIA Domains RAI-HC continued Service Utilization Medications Identification Information Personal Items Referral Items Assessment Information

 RAI-HC Clinical Assessment Protocols (CAPs) Triggered by assessment questions 	 RAI- HC CAPs Related to Palliative and End of Life Palliative Care
30 Possible CAPs	• Pain
 Assist in the Care Planning Process along with the Clinical Judgment of the Assessor 	Cognition
with the enhieur sudgitient of the rissessor	Depression and Anxiety
	Nutrition
	• Oral Health
	Medication Management
Health and Wellness	Health and Wellness. NOVA SCOTIA
 RAI-HC CAPs Related to Palliative and End of Life continued Bowel Management Urinary Incontinence and Indwelling Catheter 	 RAI- HC Outcomes- Related to Palliative and End of Life Pain Scale- Indicates presence and intensity of pain CHESS- Change in Health, End Stage Disease and Signs and Symptoms Depression Rating Scale- Used as a clinical screener for depression ADL Self-Performance Hierarchy Scale Cognitive Performance Scale MAPLe- Method of Assigning Priority Level
DAL Dallisting Com	DAL Dellistine Come
KAI-Palliative Care	RAI- Palliative Care
Purchased the RAI- Palliative Assessment	Many similar domains as RAI-HC
Currently not implemented in SEAscape	Additional Domains are:
Developed in 2003 Tratadia Crash Darahlia Jadard	- Treatments and Procedures
• Tested in Canada, Czech Republic, Iceland, Netherlands, Sweden, Spain, and United	 Responsibility/Directive
States	
interRAI finalizing the CAPs for Palliative Care	
Health and Wellness	Health and Welliness.
RAI-Palliative Care	RAI-Palliative Care CAPs
Some Domains Not Included:	Pain Advanced Care, Client
– Vision Patterns	Mood, anxiety Wishes Delirium
 Disease Diagnosis Health Conditions and Preventative Health 	Bowel-GI Nutrition
Measures	Skin ulcers Information Supports, Corregiver Distance
 Dental Status Environment Assessment 	Sleep Disturbance
	Fatigue Life Completion
	• Life Completion
Health and Wellines. NOVA SCOTIA	Health and Welliness
Summary	Summary continued
• Currently use RAI- HC that has questions,	• RAI-HC and RAI- Palliative Care
CAPs, and Outcomes Related to End of Life Care	Implemented in many countries
RAI-Palliative Care purchased, but not vet	Ability to compare RAI assessment information with other countries
implemented, designed for persons with palliative and end of life needs	
RAI assessments are designed to work together	

Appendix J – Extended Care Paramedics (ECP)



•The ECP can arrange a transfer to ED or other location for things like diagnostic imaging, at times which the wait can be minimized

•Or, the ECP can assess the patient, in collaboration with nursing staff, make a consult with the EHS physician and nursing home physician, and treat the patient on site. Often, the ECP will arrange for a follow up visit.





Typical paramedic response differs dramatically from EOL care

Factors leading to this juxtaposition:

-Time (EMS calls usually quick, timed; EOL requires lots of time)

-Assumptions of care (public assumes EMS will always resuscitate; paramedics trained for this)

-Protocols & preparation (no specific EOL protocols in place; paramedics likely not comfortable with these situations)

ECPs Experiences with End of Life Care

Communication with patient, family and staff
 – ECPs can bring important information and a fresh perspective

- ECP Preparation for End of Life Cases
 Some discussion in initial training, but more EOL care cases than
 expected
 ECPs feel they are learning as they go; ECP experience important



And she was still actively seizing so we went on to give her some Diazepan to stop the seizure. And the family arrived. The son arrived. And the family doctor was there. And then the ECP arrived. And we were going along on our regular track of information gathering and getting this patient ready to be packaged and taken to, you know... She had stopped seizing but she still was completely unresponsive. Probably going to bed 11, 12, 13 at the Q...



To give you a better understanding of paramedic & ECP care, I want to tell you about a case that was described by a paramedic that was eye-opening to him about the ECP program. In the ECP focus group, one of the ECP spontaneously brought up the same case. I will use their words.





I don't know how the patient ended up. I'm assuming... She either stayed in her bed long term like that, or came around a little bit or came back. But It saved an overnight in Emerg, plus probably an admission and, you know, the resources. And then the family had a chance to all be in the room and sit there with her, and make the decision right there on the spot. And allow that time in their mother's room to sit there and mourn and, you know, and grieve for her.



-Paramedic 'in awe' of what was happening -> breaking traditional practice

-Slowing things down; Discussions

-ECP brought new perspective

-Paramedic saw value in avoiding ED transport, but ALSO in patient being left with family so they are together during this time.

-Focus shifted away from quickly administering treatment towards holistic decision-making -Very powerful.





















Appendix K – Primary Palliative Care

	NELS based to For () is the S(2) introductions (county ()
Autcomes nprove pain and symptom control for all persons at end of life community and professional understanding and support coordinated 24/7 care for all persons at end of life satisfaction with care and control of family and provider distress assurance of quality, timely and cost-effective care ecrease delay in commencement of a palliative approach multiple assessments, referrals and transfers ineffective use of hospital beds, emergency department and diagnostic testing	 Outcome Measures for EOLC in Primary Care Have we identified those who should be identified as potentially palliative? Have we assessed their needs well? Has care been coordinated with others well? Have we provided good care? Access Patient-centred: patient goals, information sharing, joint decision-making Physical comfort Practical support
 Primary Care Pos or ESAS PPS Satisfaction: information, shared decision making Measures of access To Primary Care-Family reported/patient reported/other Health Care Provider To chrimary Care-Family care, etc Markers of good care Low Emergency Room use, minimal hospitalization, use of community resources, Advance Care Planning documentation 	Primary Care See Table in Appendix C which Elaine Loney prepared from a literature review on Outcome measures in Primary Care Next Slide shows the end of life care algorithm for the Practice Support Program (PSP) developed in British Columbia for general practice. Appendix D has a larger view of this page. The functional PDF algorithm can be obtained from the BC website
<page-header> View of the contract of the co</page-header>	Outcomes Main and symptom control for all persons at end of life oromunity and professional understanding and support coordinated 24/7 care for all persons at end of life satisfaction with care and control of family and provider distress assurance of quality, timely and cost-effective care Decrease delay in commencement of a palliative approach multiple assessments, referrals and transfers ineffective use of hospital beds, emergency department and diagnostic testing What else?